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Prologue
Oxford, St Eligius’ Day, 1209

The scholar stared at the body in mute horror. && ot meant to kill Alice Spicer, but she had
taunted him, and the knife was out of its sheathiarher chest before he could stop himself. She
had staggered, fallen, and then died without sohnasca whisper. He took a deep breath, to calm
himself. When he raised the alarm, surely everyooeld see it was her own fault? She had a cruel
tongue, and he was not the only one to have fétlehof it — several of his colleagues at Stonel Hal
had complained about her vicious goading.

Yet, as he stared at her long fair hair and blws glge knew she would be badly missed by more
than a few. Academics were not the only ones toyeher favours: she counted Mayor Kepeharm
among her clients, too. Kepeharm was besotted eth and would leave no stone unturned to
catch her killer. Moreover, despite her wanton wajfice hailed from a powerful family: the
Spicer clan would not look the other way while afi¢heir own was dispatched by a member of the
University — a hated foundation they had never e@imt Oxford in the first place.

Fortunately, the scholar, like all his kind, cowaldim benefit of clergy — he could read, and had
taken minor religious orders, which meant the saclaw could not touch him. He would be tried
by an ecclesiastical court, and they were far nemgent than civil ones. Mere townsmen would not
be able to wreak their violent vengeanceéhon. Or would they?

King John had recently quarrelled with Pope InnbdBnand England was currently under an
interdict: the entire country was debarred fromesiastical privileges and functions. Many bishops
had left the country, and certain basic ceremonissich as communion, confession, and burials
within sacred ground — had ceased. To show he carttung for the Holy Father’s proclamations,
the King had begun challenging ecclesiastical aitthmm any way he could. Supposing he decided
to deny scholars benefit of clergy? Then there ddad no immunity from being hanged from the
town walls like a common criminal!

But the Church would not stand for that, even snwieakened state. There would be an uproar,
and the seculars would face terrible reprisals nedfithat would cripple them for years, and
reprimands to make their toes curl. Of course, rafrthat would help the scholar if he were dead,
and suddenly, it did not seem like such a good idemnfess to what he had done.

Bending down quickly, he wiped the blade of hisfé&min Alice’s gown. It was night, and the inn
where she held her assignations was dingy. No adeseen his face as he had opened the door and
crept up the stairs, because he had taken camnteal it with his hood — relations with the town’s

women were forbidden to scholars, and he had noteslao be caught breaking the rules. So while



the patrons sitting over their ale downstairs wocddtainly have seen a man aiming for Alice’s
chamber, they would not be able to identify himspaally.

Turning his back on the body, he made for the dowtrthen hesitated. There was a badge on his
cloak that indicated he was a member of Stone Hdl.academic residence was older, larger and
grander than most others, and its four doctorsseneén bachelors were proud of it, so they wore the
badge to declare their affiliation. And the schdiad not been so preoccupied with hiding his face
as he had slipped up the stairs that he had mtbgedrinkers grinning knowingly at each other —
smirking that yet another hypocritical academic &eaailing himself of the town’s forbidden fruits.
They would remember the badge, and Kepeharm an8pteers would learn that Alice’s murderer
hailed from Stone Hall.

But with eleven members, how would they know wha wee guilty party? Alice was popular in
Stone Hall, and some, like the rebellious studeebfeey Gryme, were brazen about their
association with her. They would all declare theitocence, and Kepeharm would be unable to
identify the real culprit. He could scarcely prastecan entire foundation, so he would be forced to
admit defeat. And with all the turmoil and uncemtgiarising from the interdict, Alice would soon
be forgotten.

Before he opened the door, he glanced back at ¢timeaw whose life he had taken in one white-
hot moment of rage. Blood had pooled beneath mel har face was already waxen. It was a pity:
shehad been comely. But what was done was done, and cdhe@ati see why he should hang for
something he had not intended. Of course, it woolddo for him to forget the crime too quickly —
there was his immortal soul to think about, aftéraso he stepped over to her and cut a curl from
her golden hair. He would carry it with him as pee& to remind him to pray for her.

He pulled up his hood, making sure his face wad hidlden, then arranged his cloak so it
concealed his badge. With luck, the drinkers migétthave noticed it earlier, and Stone Hall might
yet escape untarnished. When he was ready, halpadlek his shoulders and marched out, putting a

spring in his step, as though he had not a catteeimvorld.



I
Oxford, 6 December 1209

Adam Gryme’s terrified protestations of innocenceravsoon silenced, and then all that could be
heard were his strangled gurgles as the noosestigitaround his neck. It took a long time for him
to die, much longer than Tom Chestertone, who dahat his side.

Geoffrey Gryme struggled with all his might agaitis¢ hands that held him down. Stone Hall
was no longer safe, so its members had secretigatedd to Corner Hall, a house hastily abandoned
after the arrests of Adam and Chestertone had thtbe University into turmoil. Unfortunately, it
stood next to the castle, where the executions wakieg place, so Geoffrey could hear every
choking gasp and every creak of the rope. He dicknow how his colleagues could bear to listen
without racing to intervene. Adam was his brothad ¢eir friend! How could they do nothing? He
fought harder to escape, but it was no use. There simply too many of them.

Judging from the sullen mood of the crowd that gathered to watch the executions, Dr John
Gryme — the oldest of the three brothers and Sttaiks Principal — had saved his colleagues’ lives
when he had ordered them into hiding. The tale #tiae Spicer had been murdered by someone
from Stone Hall had spread through the town likkelfive, and Mayor Kepeharm had vowed to see
every one of its scholars at the end of a ropenfdad Chestertone had been seized before Gryme
could secure a safe haven, but the others had mdriagyo intchiding. Now they were trapped in
Corner Hall like rats, not daring to set foot odésfor fear of what might happen.

The spectators cheered when the hangman pronoumsedctims dead, and when they had
quietened again, Kepeharm started to make a spPecbryme made an urgent gesture for John de
Foxton to clap a hand across Geoffrey’s mouth réwgnt him from shouting out. It would be a pity
for his outrage to give away their location now.

‘We did not invite scholars to our town,” Kepehawas declaring. ‘They just arrived, and began
to multiply like locusts, until we are overrun withem. They hide behind the Church whenever
they break the law, but no more! From today, saisoll face true justice.’

There was a roar of approval from the throng, alionow two men were dead, there was a
degree of uncertainly in it. Some onlookers wetelligent enough to know that there would be
consequences to Kepeharm’s actions, and whereasnikiersity might be unpopular in Oxford, it
had powerful supporters elsewhere.

‘Alice Spicer was murdered by a Stone Hall man p&earm ranted on. ‘These two claimed they
were innocent, but could not prove it to my satstm, so here they hang. The rest will soon

follow.’



There was more cheering, but he was losing hiseagdi While executions were entertaining,
people were loath to waste time listening to theydda bluster. Stone Hall's scholars listened,
however, unsettled by the intensity of his hatimdtfiem. The bachelors were white-faced with fear,
while the doctors exchanged appalled glances. Hrignposition on the floor, Geoffrey wondered
which one was such a rank coward that he woulddietm and Chestertone hang for something he
had done.

Haughty, aristocratic and with a natural authoritis brother John had been elechdgister
Scolarum- the University’s highest ranking scholar — feveral years, and even after resigning that
position he remained one of the most powerful nmethe University hierarchy. Geoffrey did not
think John would sacrifice Adam to save himself, the older Gryme was a pragmatist, and might
well have reasoned that two lowly bachelors wems Isignificant than a respected Doctor of
Theology.

Geoffrey’'s gaze passed to Stone Hall's other master Richard de Leycestria was florid of
face, but possessed a strength of character thdg mm a good leader. He was a lawyer, and it was
said he was destined for great things. He was stgrmext to Dr John Blund, amiable but weak,
with blunt, ugly features. The fourth, Dr Robert\dark, had not been seen since Alice’s death.

The three lads who, with Foxton, held Geoffrey dowere Stone Hill's remaining students,
none eager to join their friends on the gibbetwgbng to prevent him from putting them in danger
with reckless heroics. Foxton was trying to be gergithough the same could not be said for John
de Storteford, Nicholas Derlega and John de Matkesod it would not surprise Geoffrey to learn
one ofthemwas the culprit. Only Foxton had muttered an agylior laying hands on him, and he
was also the only one whose eyes showed the sagueshrthat Geoffrey was experiencing — the
others were concerned solely with their own safety.

Only when Kepeharm finished speaking, and leftgabows with the Spicer clan, did Gryme
indicate that Geoffrey could be released.

‘You could have done nothing to stop it,’” he saikidky, helping him to his feet. ‘Had you tried,
you would be hanged, too. And | cannot lose a sgboother today.’

‘Moreover, you would have put the rest of us ingkni added Malketon. He intended to take
the cowl when he had completed his studies, andidered himself a cut above those of his
colleagues who would only be lawyers. Geoffrey tifdthim a sanctimonious hypocrite.

‘Where are you going?’ demanded Leycestria, as fGgomade for the door.

“To cut them down.’

‘No, you are not! exclaimed Leycestria, grabbingd8rey’s shoulder. ‘Kepeharm will use the
same rope to hangpu But before that, he will drag from you detailsaafr whereabouts, and we

will all be doomed.’



Geoffrey tried to shrug him off, but Leycestriasademic robes concealed a powerful physique,
one that was well able to deal with recalcitrantdsnts, as Geoffrey had learned to his cost in the
past. He could no more break free and race outisatehe could fly to the moon.

‘We will go together, after dark,” said Blund inl@av voice. He rarely spoke above a whisper,
which meant his students often missed sizeablekshohhis lectures. ‘I will help you.’

‘This is York’s fault,’ said Leycestria, eyes flasg with indignation. ‘He should be ashamed —
murdering women, then running away, leaving usear bhe consequences.’

‘You cannot know he is the culprit,’ said Dr Grymeasonably. Leycestria and York had never
seen eye-to-eye, and loved nothing more than tiogdga each other. However, accusations of
capital crimes had never featured in their spafsrbe

‘No?’ demanded Leycestria. ‘Then where is he? Tdaoms not end for ten days, and he has no
right to disappear when there is still teachingdd

‘Term is effectively ovemow,” whispered Blund. ‘Our colleagues are leavingdimoves, and
word is that arecessuswill be ordered — that we will abandon Oxford Unkepeharm
acknowledges he cannot string us up like commanials.’

‘York’s father is unwell,” explained Foxton. ‘He @lwved me the letter. So he went to—’

‘A letter he received three weeks ago,’ interrupkteycestria. ‘Why did he wait? Because he
murdered Alice, and is using his father as an extoislisappear to safety!

‘Well, whoever Killed her, it was not Adam,” saidaleton. ‘Like me, he intended to join the
Benedictine Order, so was thus beyond reproach.(Butstertone regularly debased himself with
that acid-tongued whore, so perhaps Kepeharm gotolprit right.’

‘How do you know she was acid-tongued?’ pouncedfféso ‘You said you never met her.’

‘I have not,” said Malketon hastily. ‘I just listed to the rest of you discuss her.’

‘Malketon is right, though,’ said Derlega, a larg&ypid lad patently unsuited to academic life.
He and Malketon enjoyed a symbiotic relationshiperlega’s ready fists protected the weaker man
during brawls, while Malketon helped Derlega toath#uring examinations. ‘Alice could say some
very nasty things. During our last session, shiedahe a...” He trailed off guiltily.

‘You saidyouhad never met her, either,’” said Geoffrey, narnghis eyes.

Derlega became flustered. ‘I did not...It was...wetluysee...’

Malketon appealed to his Principal. ‘Will you letrhaccuse usll, Dr Gryme? | have already
said that Chestertone was probably the culprit.’

‘He was not,” said Geoffrey before his brotherldotespond. ‘And neither was Adam. | know
this for a fact, because they both had an alili.them, Foxton.’

It was generally agreed that Foxton was bound &mtlsood, with his kindliness and dreamy

smile. Several people believed his prayers haddctimem of debilitating illnesses, and his services



were in constant demand. He was the last persahneiruniversity to lie, and Geoffrey had been
shocked when Kepeharm had refused to grant hinudierece. He could only suppose that, as no
townsperson would have countenanced Kepeharm iagestat particular member of Stone Hall,

the Mayor had simply declined to hear his testimimsyead.

‘Alice died on St Eligius’ Day,’ obliged Foxton. #d | conducted a vigil in St Mary’s then —
from sunset until nocturns. As Alice was seen adifter dusk and found dead before midnight, no
one who was with me can be the culprit.’

‘I was with you,’ said Malketon quickly. ‘Remembér?

‘Only for the first part,” replied Foxton apologesdily. ‘The only three to stay the course were
Adam, Chestertone and Geoffrey, although the Vestdozed through most of it—’

‘You mean they were sleeping off their excesseserapending the afternoon in a tavern,
muttered Leycestria. He deplored Geoffrey’'s bratisregard for the University’s rules.

‘But | can say for certain that they did not killi¢e,” finished Foxton. ‘I would have noticed
them leave, and so would several scholars fromd&tuad’s Hall, who were with me.’

‘I wantedto stay all night, but | was preparing for my neigputation,” said Malketon sullenly.
He was jealous of Foxton, whom he knew was theebetian. ‘However, just because | cannot
prove my whereabouts at the salient time does mainnham guilty of...” He waved a vague hand.

‘I have an alibi,” said Derlega brightly. ‘I was withy horse in the stables.’

‘Yes, but unfortunately,” drawled Storteford, ‘wheasked her to confirm the tale, she declined
to speak. So you, like me, cannot prove your wheress. | was out walking — alone.’

‘Well, 1 have a credible alibi,” declared Leycestria, lomkaround at his colleagues with lofty
distaste. I'was here, in Corner Hall, dining with its Principal

‘But unfortunately, John de Horningsea is not hereonfirm it,” said Storteford. ‘He followed
York’s example, and left town.’

Gryme’s expression was pained. ‘We are nine, bily Geoffrey and Foxton can prove their
whereabouts when Alice died,” he said softly. ‘Isv@ading in my room; Malketon was preparing
for his disputation; Storteford was walking; Dedegyas with his horse; Blund was asleep in the
kitchen; Leycestria’s witness is unavailable; aratkvis not here to say whether he had one or not.’

‘In other words,’” said Geoffrey, regarding them dmeone, noting who met his eyes and who

looked away, ‘any one of you might have murdereideil

The previous occupants of Corner Hall had strippeaf anything portable before they had fled
from Oxford, so Stone Hall's scholars spent anotirmomfortable night huddled in their cloaks on
the bare floor. It was freezing cold, but they daret light a fire, because the building was

supposed to be empty, and smoke issuing from timengly would have given them away.



Geoffrey lay apart from the others, wondering whiéithem had stabbed Alice. Personally, he
had not minded her sharp tongue: most of Oxford'®nes were rather eager to please, hoping
flattery would earn them extra money, and it wdeeshing to meet one who spoke her mind. But
he understood why his colleagues might have olgjeetélice had been clever, and none would
have appreciated being defeated in verbal badibpgewoman.

And which of themhad employed her? Storteford had owned up instantly)dga had had to be
coerced, while Malketon’s denial was clearly a kad the masters? Geoffrey had seen Blund,
Leycestria and York emerging from her lair at oimeet or another, and, although he could not
imagine his brother frequenting such a place, Gryras a man, with a man’s needs and passions,
so who really knew?

He winced as he recalled his foray to rescue Addrody earlier. Blund and Leycestria had been
the only ones brave enough to help him — Leycestriaondition that Geoffrey helped him reclaim
some of his possessions from Stone Hall first, Bloehd for reasons he declined to share. They had
cut the victims down, and dug them hasty graves iditch — the interdict meant burials in
churchyards were forbidden.

Of course, the interdict was ignored when it waavemient, thought Geoffrey bitterly. The
churches were supposed to be closed and sacrafodsitklen, but he had witnessed the funeral of
a rich merchant only the previous week, while mangsts still kept their offices. He wondered
how long it would be before he could reclaim histher’'s body and lay it in St Mary’s, where it
belonged.

‘Do you believe those witnesses who say they saweSHall's badge on the killer?” came
Leycestria’s voice out of the darkness. ‘They mayehbeen mistaken. Or lying.’

‘They were not,’ replied Foxton, while the otheas 8p or stirred restlessly, happier talking, even
about a grim subject like murder, than waiting $t@ep that would not come. ‘They were members
of the Spicer clan, and they want tieal killer punished. And they want his colleagues leghgith
him. They will not rest until every one of us isade

‘Except you, | suppose,’ said Malketon snidely. f@esident saint. The only one of us who can
still walk the streets without fear of attack. $ta pity you only used your immunity to go to St
Mary's to pray, and did not think to bring us brebdave not eaten properly in days.’

‘That would have been noticed,” said Gryme sharplgpeharm would have been told if Foxton
had loaded himself up with food, and then hungenld/de the last thing on our minds.’

‘But if the Spicer mersawthis scholar,” pressed Leycestria, ‘why do theyidentify him? Then
those of us who are innocent could go home.’

‘True,” agreed Storteford. ‘Kepeharm cannot hangallsf the culprit says the rest of us had

nothing to do with his crime.’



‘You delude yourselves,” said Gryme harshly. ‘Algeeath has hit Kepeharm hard, and he is a
vengeful fellow, with a deep-rooted hatred for thaversity.’

‘But it would clear the air if the culprit were &iep forward,” whispered Blund. ‘And while |
shall be sorry to see another member of Stonehdaly), he has only himself to blame.’

Malketon’s voice was cloyingly pious. ‘If | thouglhat would work, | would make a false
confession, to save the rest of you. But such afisgcwould be futile, so | shall not do it.’

‘Alice was popular with many scholars,” mused Stfotd. ‘Perhaps her killer was not one of us
at all, but someone from another hall, who worelmdge as a disguise.’

‘Unlikely,” said Geoffrey, who had spent almost gvenoment since Adam'’s arrest pondering
the known facts. ‘If he wore a disguise, it meaasaent intending to harm her. But witnesses say
he and Alice were together for a long time, sugggdhey passed most of it amicably. Everything
points to a crime committed in the heat of the matrtergo, he could not have anticipated the need
for a disguise.’

‘So there is no doubt, then,’” said Derlega, a tnemdis voice. ‘One of us the culprit.’

‘Without question,’ replied Geoffrey flatly.

‘When | went to tell Kepeharm that Adam and Chdeter were innocent,” began Foxton
tentatively, ‘his sergeant told me that Alice hadcdssed her clients with her sister. Margaret
Spicer can name everyone at Stone Hall who—'

‘And Kepeharm believed her?’ demanded Malketonramed. ‘The sister of a whore?’

‘Then let us have this list,” said Leycestria wBarMWhich of us has Margaret accused?’

‘Well, most,” said Foxton quietly. It was too daidk Geoffrey to see his face, but he could hear
the sorrow in his voice. ‘Geoffrey and Storteforevar hid their association with Alice, while
Margaret says Derlega and Malketon were also regjula

‘I have never...” spluttered Malketon, mortified.

‘Margaret says our doctors hired Alice, too,” Faxtmntinued quietly.

‘Then she is lying,” declared Leycestria. ‘I do mate whores.’

‘She is not lying,” said Blund with a weary sigh.am sorry Leycestria, but you know we both
visited her on occasion. So did Yakd Principal Gryme.’

‘Did you?’ asked Geoffrey of his brother.

‘Once,’” said Gryme stiffly. ‘Wheryour riotous behaviour was leading me to distractiord &
felt the need for relief. Adam told me she was iist Clearly, he was wrong.’

‘Clearly,” said Storteford, laughter in his voi¢80, none of us except Geoffrey and Foxton have
alibis, and we were all intimately acquainted vitik victim. No wonder Kepeharm wants us dead!

‘I do not like it here any more,” said Derlega plarely. ‘And | am frightened.’



‘You should be,” said Leycestria bluntly. ‘We aiéia mortal peril, thanks to a man who could
not control his temper.’

‘Stop,” ordered Gryme sharply. ‘Perhaps one oflidsmurder Alice, but eight of us did not. And
it is time to protect the innocent among us — agaied to protect Adam and Chestertone.’

‘What do you propose?’ asked Leycestria warily.

‘Kepeharm will not rest until he has had his vemgea and if we flee the town, he may attack
another hall in our stead. We cannot let that hapfe | suggest we invokeracessusand close
the University.’

‘You are notMagister Scolarunmow,” whispered Blund, shocked. "You cannot méaiag sort of
decision. Master de Lucy is in chargbemust do it.’

‘De Lacy fled days ago,’ said Storteford acidlye‘$ no fool?

‘But we have never invoked racessusefore,’” said Leycestria worriedly. ‘And if we heg we
may never be able to return. This is the only Ursifg in the country, and to close it down...’

‘It is a risk we must take,’ replied Gryme. ‘We can function under these conditions anyway. If
Kepeharm refuses to acknowledge our benefit ofjglet is only a matter of time before more of us
die. And how many of our privileges are we prepdceslurrender in order to stay?’

‘True,” acknowledged Blund. ‘The Church cannot pottus here, so we should go to a town that
does not hate us.’

‘Although that will change the moment we arrive,uttered Storteford caustically. ‘University
men are mostly rude and arrogant, so it will noidrey before we earn the antipathy of any new
place. It is something we are rather good at,nkthi

‘Where shall we go?’ asked Malketon. ‘Northamptadrttat is a pleasant place with plenty of
grammar schools.’

‘I would rather it were Reading,” whispered Bluridlis not so far to travel when we eventually
return to Oxford. Of course, there is nothing thesecept an abbey...But it is de Lacy’s home, and |
am sure he will welcome us.’

‘Cambridge,” stated Gryme. ‘We shall go to Cambeidlg

‘Cambridge?’ echoed Derlega, horrified. ‘But itnsles away, and December is a bad month for
travelling.’

‘“True, but many of us hail from the area,’ said Gey ‘Our families are respected there, and they
will help us settle. And the churches of St Marythg-Market and St Bene’t will serve as our
lecture halls. It will not be for long, anyway. Wl soon be back.’

‘I hope you are right,” said Blund unhappily. ‘Bes if you are not, we shall end up with a
“University of Cambridge”, and that has a very deuing to it.’

‘But one | could come to like,” mused Leycestri/Hen shall we go?’
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‘Now,” said Gryme, reaching for his tinderbox sandkes could be lit. ‘While it is still dark. |
shall write the proclamation, and Foxton will niaito the church door and ring the bell. There will
be so much confusion that we shall be able toaslipy without the guards recognising us.’

With the others clustering around him, he wrote thwat order that would tell every scholar to
leave Oxford and either join him in Cambridge, erléicy in Reading. Foxton disappeared with it,
and it was not long before the bell began to chiméhe signal that told scholars something
momentous was in the offing, and that they shouwldyhto the church to find out what. The
recessusvas official.

‘It is the right thing to do,” Gryme said to Gedjr as they hurried through the dark streets with
bundles of their scant belongings. ‘I know you wbtéther stay here to prove Adam’s innocence,
but you will die before you have answers.’

‘Actually, | am glad we are leaving, and when —ifhe University does reconvene, | will not be
part of it. | hate this place.’

‘We may be gone for years,’ said Gryme, smiling@aisingly. “You will feel differently—"’

‘Never! But it was not Kepeharm and the Spicers \Whied Adam. Our treacherous colleague
did that when he stabbed Alice, and let two innboeen hang rather than confess—'

‘A confession would have made no difference,” smab@ryme. ‘There would just be three men
buried in a ditch, instead of two.’

‘But Adam and Chestertone would not have died belge everyone thinks them killers. 1 will
catch this monster, and when | do—’

‘Be careful of wild words,” Gryme interrupted, alaed. Geoffrey was a notorious brawler, and
he did not want Stone Hall tainted with another deur

‘They are spoken carefully, and after a good déabatemplation. None of our colleagues have
alibis, and everyone except Foxton hired Alice\giars. You have trained me in logic, so it should
not be too difficult to deduce which of them is thaprit.’

‘I have no alibi,” said Gryme quietly. ‘Arichired Alice. Will you investigate me, too?’

Geoffrey nodded without hesitation will have the truth, no matter where it leads.’
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1
Cambridge, January 1209

It was a bitterly cold day, with the wind scythiagross the Fens, turning rain into a stinging sleet
had been easy to forget Cambridge’s harsh wintetee more ameliorative climes of Oxford, but
the first few days in the little Fen-edge town dilyaeminded the scholars of Stone Hall what they
had left behind.

‘Whose idea was it to come here?’ grumbled Malketshe stood with Geoffrey outside the
Church of St Mary-by-the-Market, waiting for thecar to come and unlock the door. He shivered
and drew his cloak more closely around him. ‘Wamr brother?’

‘Yes, but you agreed.” Geoffrey had come to dishkalketon even more since their flight from
Oxford, and wished the man would make good on h@anse to take the cowl. The nearest
Benedictine house was in Ely, some fifteen milesadit, although even that was too close as far as
Geoffrey was concerned.

Their journey from Oxford had taken them througltaéleg, whereMagister Scolarunde Lacy
had already established a temporatydium generaleGeoffrey had been astonished when his
brother had brazenly selected the best scholaasdompany him to Cambridge, leaving the hapless
de Lacy with the trouble-makers and idlers. It v@apity, he thought sourly, that Gryme had not
managed to lose Malketon.

‘It seemed a good idea at the time, but it wasstake,” Malketon went on. ‘Kepeharm’s fervour
will have faded by now, and if we had stayed, hellde begging our forgiveness.’

‘You are wrong,’ said Geoffrey shortly. ‘He trackad for days before finally turning for home.
No Stone Hall scholar will ever be able to retureré as long as he lives.’

‘| fail to understand his persistence,’ said Matkesullenly. ‘She was only a whore.’

‘| imagine that is what her killer thought,” saice@ffrey, treating him to a hard stare. ‘That her
life was expendable, and not worth as much asvars’o

Malketon groaned. ‘Enough, Geoffrey! Even your bestis tired of your obsession with this
matter. And the rest of us have accepted Stortsf@mhclusions — that the murdedd intend to
kill Alice, and wore one of our badges as a disguis

Geoffrey said nothing, although he was puzzledtoyt&ord’s insistence that the culprit was not

from Stone Hall. There was no doubt in Geoffreyisdrnthat the killer was one of their own, and it

1. The date at which the year officially commences has varied at different periods and in different countries. In England, between 1155
and the acceptance of the Gregorian reform of the calendar in 1752, the legal and civil year was reckoned to begin on 25 March — the
Feast of the Annunciation, or Lady Day. Thus, 24 March was the last day of one year, and 25 March the first day of the next.
Therefore, January 1209 followed directly from December 1209. Despite this, 1 January was commonly spoken of as New Year’s Day,
as Julius Caesar had fixed it in 45 BC.
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occurred to him that Storteford’s real intentionclaiming otherwise might be to deflect suspicion
from himself. He thought the same about Malketohpwvas also eager to pass the blame to
another foundation.

‘You cannot expect to solve the crime now, anywayalketon continued. ‘So you should
concentrate on your studies instead. Dr Leycegilthme yesterday that you are badly behind.’

But how could Geoffrey immerse himself in books whieis brother's soul cried out for
vengeance? He had done his best to find answetheomvay from Oxford, but even the most
garrulous of his colleagues had been batteredsiigace by the atrocious travelling conditions. He
had enjoyed a modicum of success, though: from thein dall opposite, two scholars named
Mauncestre and Driffeld had seen Blund fall asleeftone Hall's kitchen at around sunset, and
had been amused when he had not woken for seveuas.hThey had been able to say, without
question, that Blund had not murdered Alice. Thestimony brought the number of potential
culprits down to six.

Of these, Storteford and Malketon were Geoffreyisnp suspects. Storteford claimed to have
been walking around Oxford all night, something trezholars avoided because it was dangerous.
Geoffrey had questioned dozens of witnesses, bubme had seen him. When coupled with his
curious insistence — against all logic — that Alael been murdered by someone from another hall,
Geoffrey could not but help be suspicious.

Meanwhile, Malketon claimed to have attended parFaxton’s St Eligius’ Day vigil, then
passed the rest of the night preparing for a degpurt. But reliable withesses said Malketon spent
only moments at the vigil, and he had failed hiareiation. So far, Geoffrey had been unable to
ascertain whether his poor performance was bedaiseas not as good a theologian as he wanted
everyone to believe, or because he had spentghé awing something other than studying.

This left Derlega, whose instinct had been to lleew asked about Alice, and whose alibi was a
horse; Dr York, who had left Oxford the day aftee tmurder, and had not been seen since; and
Gryme, who had also concealed his relationship wilibe, and who claimed to have been reading
when she died. It also included Leycestria, who &lad initially denied an association with Alice,
but whose alibi in Corner Hall was likely to beart.oWhen it did, Geoffrey’s list would be down to
five names.

‘Here is Father Gervaise, at last,” grumbled Madketstamping his feet in an effort to warm
them. ‘Where has he been? It is freezing out here!’

Gervaise was a short, fat man with thin brown hde.had been delighted when Gryme and his
scholars had announced their intention of residinpe town until it was safe to return to Oxford.

A clever man himself, he relished the company béosharp minds.
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Mayor Dunning had also welcomed the scholars, andhad his burgesses. The newcomers
needed houses in which to live, food, ale, clotirniture, fuel for warmth and cooking, and
materials for writing. They also needed servantdaundresses, barbers, bakers and cooks.
Unfortunately, it had not taken long before the nomorthies were also treated to a glimpse of the
negative side of the scholars, and why they hadoeeh popular in Oxford. Gryme had done his
best to exclude the more rowdy elements from loigkfl but it still included young men partial to
taverns and loose women. Several fights had alrbaoken out between locals and scholars, and
several more between rival halls.

‘Did you hear about the brawl last night?’ Gervagsked chattily, opening the church with an
enormous key. ‘It was over who should have the @omysposite St Michael's Church — it was
promised to Mayor Dunning’s nephew, but Master Maastre wants it, and offered to pay more.’

‘We shouldtake precedence over townsmen,” said Malketomoviahg him inside. ‘We have
graced this undistinguished town with our presesodhe least it can do is give us what we want.’

‘Oh, it will,” said Gervaise. ‘There are too mamylyers among you for it to do anything else.’

St Mary-by-the-Market was the town’s largest chyid had been one of the first buildings the
scholars had elected to occupy. It was still opepdrishioners — who were, of course, obliged to
pay for its upkeep — but only when scholars werteusing it. The same was true of St Bene't’'s and
All Saints, and with more students arriving daitywvas only a matter of time before they laid claim
to other churches, too.

Geoffrey paused to admire the building. It was ifl, gieaceful place, with real glass in its
chancel windows. The floor was flagged, and itslsvabvered in paintings depicting the lives of
saints — a riot of reds, yellows and greens. Theeee also wreaths of greenery set on the
windowsills, adding an earthy aroma to the swestent of incense.

Malketon knelt in front of the altar, and begars&y his prayers, while Geoffrey helped Gervaise
light candles and lay out the vessels for the massalmost unlimited supply of unpaid assistants
was another reason why the vicar liked scholars.

‘Reading Abbey is not holding masses,” remarked ffe&p as he worked. ‘It is following the
prohibitions laid down by the interdict.’

‘I have exempted myself from that,” replied Geredimughtily. ‘How am | to earn a crust, if 1 do
not serve my people? Besides, who will stop me?Bikkop? He is not even in the country”

Geoffrey had learned from his first day in Cambeddpat Gervaise was very interested in
earning crusts. Somehow, his brother already knkautathe vicar's fondness for lucre, and a
veritable fortune had passed into his hands to th&sscholars’ arrival in their new home.

‘Dr York arrived last night,’ Gervaise went on whémere was no reply. Not for him silent

contemplation before his offices — he loved to gns$he last surviving member of your hall. Will
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you questiorhim about the murder of that unfortunate lady? | knau are still interested in the
matter, despite your brother’s orders to let it lie

Geoffrey’s pulse quickened. ‘Where has he been?’

‘Visiting his sick father, apparently. No, do noasth away now! You have not finished your
duties here.’

‘Malketon will do it.” Geoffrey itched to be gonkle had waited far too long to see York.
‘Malketon!” spat Gervaise. He lowered his voicee‘iill do well with the Benedictines — all
show and no substance. Look at him now! He pretémgsay, but you can see from here that his

mind is elsewhere. Perhaps he is afraid York véallénevidence that shows killed the whore.’

Geoffrey supposed Malketon’s demeanour did suggessthoughts were on something other
than his devotions, and took a step towards hirnGauvaise shoved a chalice in his hand.

‘Polish this,” he ordered. ‘And incidentally, Steford should watch himself, too. Oxford may
look the other way while stable-boys are seducetdwe take a dim view of that sort of thing in
Cambridge.’

Geoffrey stared at him. ‘But he was one of Alice’s—

‘Oh, | am sure he said so.” Gervaise’s eyes weighbrith malice. ‘But it would not be true.
Many of the town’s loose women come to me for cesifen — | believe it is morally wrong to obey
the interdict and deprive the desperate of the aham save their souls by confession, especially if
they can pay — and although the rest of you featgalarly in their tallies, he is remarkable bg hi
absence.’

The moment the mass was over, Geoffrey left anaaiming for the house on Foule Lane, where
Stone Hall had made its new home. It was a dralolibgi with a thatched roof in desperate need of
repair, and comprised a single chamber for teacbimthe ground floor with three poky rooms for
sleeping above. Its yard had a stable and a sepdtahen, while a gate led to a tangle of brambles
that would have to be cleared before planting \ages in the spring. It was hardly what they had
been used to in Oxford, and ‘hall’ seemed altogethe grand an appellation. Storteford had wryly
dubbed it Foule Hostel, a name that had stuck.

Gryme was lecturing on LombardSentencesand Dr Blund, Foxton and Storteford were
listening, taking notes on the wax tablets theyl lo#l their knees. Derlega was gazing absently out
of the window, while Leycestria dozed by the firevhich meant York had not yet arrived, or they
would be squabbling. Deprived of his primary taygeeoffrey grabbed Storteford’s arm instead,
and hauled him outside, ignoring the outraged digjes of his brother. Storteford tried to resisif b

Geoffrey was an experienced brawler, and more @ahaatch for him.
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‘Why did you not tell me?’ he demanded, shoving d¢kteer scholar against the wall in the yard.
‘You let me think you enjoyed Alice’s favours.’

Storteford’s eyebrows shot up in surprise. ‘I dijog them! What do you want? Details?’

‘You never met her,” snarled Geoffrey in disguBectause you prefer—’

‘What | prefer is none of your damned businessséd Storteford, alarm in his eyes.

‘No,” conceded Geoffrey. ‘But it means you did kat Alice.’

‘Is that what this is about?’ Storteford saggedadiief. ‘1 thought you intended to expose me. |
should have known thgbuwould not have taken exception to my—'’

‘Your walk that night? Was it to see a stable-boy?’

‘No.” Storteford looked around quickly, then lowdrénis voice. ‘It was to see John de
Horningsea. He is an influential scholar, so yoll appreciate why | had to keep his name quiet.’

‘He arrived here three days ago,’ said Geoffrey.

‘Yes, and | have been obliged to avail myself afbs-lads in the interim. Unfortunately, that
damned vicar found out. | wondered how long it vdolok before he gossiped about me.’

Geoffrey rubbed a weary hand over his eyes. ‘So aithyou lie about Alice?’

‘Why do you think? It is better to be consideredl@re-monger than a man whose tastes run in
other directions. | did not want to become the biijokes.’

‘I would not—' began Geoffrey.

‘Malketon would have mocked me, while your brotkedisapproval would have known no
bounds.” Storteford sighed. ‘I considered askingrtgsea to testify for my whereabouts that
night, but I did not want him dragged into Stondl'damire.’

‘I wish | had known this sooner — | would not hawvasted hours trying to question you,’ said
Geoffrey, thinking his list of suspects was now daw five.

‘Christ’s blood! groaned Storteford. ‘Here comesuy brother, wanting to know why you so
rudely intruded on his teaching. Will you tell himhat you have learned about me?”’

‘No, but Gervaise will. And you will have to payrfhis silence.’

Storteford took one look at the furious expresstonDr Gryme’s face, and promptly made
himself scarce; Geoffrey had seriously oversteghedmark when he had disrupted a lecture, and
he did not want to share the blame. LeycestriaBlodd were at Gryme’s heels, also outraged that
he should dare interrupt the academic musingsDaor of Theology.

‘Explain yourselfl’ shouted Gryme angrily. ‘Why digbu storm into my hostel and use physical
force on another scholar?’

‘| was eliminating a suspect for Alice’s murdegptied Geoffrey. ‘Storteford is innocent.’
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‘Really?’ asked Leycestria in surprise, when Gryoméy gaped at his brother’s insolence — and
his complete lack of remorse. ‘He is my second fane suspect — after York — because there has
always been something a little peculiar about him.’

‘I hear York arrived in Cambridge last night,” s&eoffrey. ‘Where is he?’

‘Stop!” snapped Gryme angrily. ‘You will leave Yogdone. He is a University doctor, and it is
not for you to interrogate him. Do | make myse#aif?’

‘Quite clear, but—' began Geoffrey.

‘Your brother is right,” whispered Blund. ‘We aré weary of hearing about Alice. And about
Adam and Chestertone, too, if the truth be told. &k sorry for what happened, but dwelling on
the matter will do no one any good.’

‘Exactly’” snarled Gryme. ‘It is not easy startingw lives here, and we cannot afford to let past
events divide and distract us.’

‘Adam is not a “past event”,” declared GeoffreyliiotAnd five members of Stone Hall remain
on my list of suspects — and will do until they greperly eliminated. They are York, Malketon,
Derlega, Dr Leycestria and you.’

‘How dare you! cried Leycestria, while Gryme’s jadropped a second time. ‘I am above
reproach, and so is your brother. So are the fesiuw colleagues, although York...’

‘Make him stop this madness, Gryme,” whispered Blu@r he will see us exiled from here as
well. I do not want to have to return to Readings k little too primitive for my tastes.’

‘I will expel you if you persist in this matter, Girey,” declared Gryme coldly. ‘And you know
me well enough to appreciate that | do not make tidteats.’

‘You cannot expel me from a University that doeseast,” retorted Geoffrey.

‘I am a scholar,” said Gryme between gritted teéik,voice full of the ruthless authority of a
man who had brought aboutr@ecessuswith a few strokes of a pen. ‘Trained to find waysund

such niceties. Defy me at your peril.’

Far from deterring Geoffrey, the warning made hihthee more determined. Leycestria started to
follow him as he left Foule Hostel, and Geoffreysvsure he had been detailed to ensure he did as
he was told. But it was easy to lose the older mahe warren of lanes around the Market Square,
and as soon as he did, Geoffrey turned towards iriggaa’s home. He believed Storteford, but
there was no harm in having the alibi confirmeddAwvhen he had finished, he would hunt down
York.
Unfortunately, when he arrived at ‘New Corner Halorningsea was out. Geoffrey waited

impatiently, hearing the bells marking the officgsprime and then terce. Outside the window,

townsfolk were grumbling — the arrival of scholarsany of whom kept monastic offices in
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defiance of the interdict, meant the bells weredusg¢her more frequently than previously, and the
residents found the constant jangling an annoyance.

Eventually, loath to waste more time, Geoffrey netd to Foule Hostel. He knew something
was wrong as soon as he opened the door and heardsf voices. He stepped inside, disappointed
to note that York was not there. Neither was Stortk

‘This is your faultl” Malketon jabbed a shaking der at Geoffrey. ‘He mentioned new evidence
to help catch Alice’s killer, and the next thing Wweow, he is dead!

‘Who is dead?’ asked Geoffrey, bewildered. “York?’

‘No, although he is probably the culprit,” said tegtria. ‘Il doubt | am the only one who thinks it
odd that York should arrive last night, and Derlegdead this morning. Stabbed, like Alice.’

‘Derlega?’ echoed Geoffrey, shocked. ‘But | saw nindohn’s lecture—

‘That was two hours ago,’ said Blund softly.

Stomach churning, Geoffrey followed his brothertlup stairs to the chamber Derlega had shared
with Malketon and Leycestria. Derlega was slumpeer @ table in the window, where spilled ink
and a pen said he had been writing when he had Giedffrey had never seen the man’s hands so
dirty, stained not only with the ink, but with sptbo. Foxton was kneeling next to him, his face
ashen as he prayed.

‘I found him a few moments ago,” explained Leycestalso pale. ‘After Dr Gryme’s lecture, he
said he had business to attend, and came up loere &/hen | came to fetch him...’

‘Did anyone hear anything suspicious?’ Geoffreyeaskecoiling when he saw the ugly wound
in Derlega’s back. ‘A struggle? A cry?’

‘Dr Gryme’s lecture was complex, and we all fele theed for fresh air afterwards,” explained
Foxton. ‘We each went our separate way — to the, yhe kitchen, the stable, the street...’

‘I would never have left him had | known...” Malketdwegan to cry, although Geoffrey looked at
him sharply. There was a forced quality to the salssthough they were being produced because
they were expected of him, rather than from anyugenemotion. Moreover, he had not entered the
room, but was standing outside it, almost invisibléhe shadows.

‘Could someone have come in from outside?’ Geofégled, struggling to suppress his natural
dislike of Malketon and review the situation objeely.

‘York,’ replied Leycestria promptly. ‘Malketon sayerlega had uncovered new evidence about
Alice’s murder, so York must have determined thatvould never come to light. He stabbed
Derlega and stole whatever he was writing. Yousmsthere is pen and ink, but no parchment.’

‘No,” said Foxton quietly. ‘To enter Foule HostBlr York would have had to come through the
front door. And he did not, because | was sittingllee step the entire time — from the moment Dr

Gryme finished his lecture until Dr Leycestria eighe alarm.’
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‘And no one entered?’ pressed Geoffrey. Had it baeather of his colleagues replying, he
would have treated the testimony with caution,Baxton never lied.

‘No one.’

Geoffrey felt slightly sick. Logic dictated thatette could not béwo ruthless knifemen in one
hostel, and now Derlega was dead, and York coulchaee entered without being seen by Foxton,
it meant only Malketon, Leycestria and Gryme we# on his list. He sincerely hoped he could
prove Malketon or Leycestria guilty, because herditiwant to learn that one of his brothers had let
the other die a dreadful death.

‘So are we to understand that Derlega uncoverelli@ about Alice’s murder?’ asked Blund
uncertainly. ‘But was stabbed as he was writirgpivn?’

‘Yes!" declared Malketon. ‘He was putting it all ia letter to the Bishop. He discovered
something at dawn, and was mulling over what toatb@ut it during Dr Gryme’s lecture.
Afterwards, he told me he had made his decisiod,amked me to leave him alone while he wrote
his missive.’

‘Why the Bishop?’ asked Geoffrey. am the one who has been trying to solve the dasdthe
Bishop is not even in the country.’

‘He said you are still too angry to act rationalhgplied Malketon with calculated spite. ‘And he
wanted the Bishop to resolve the matter legallg steould have happened in Oxford.’

‘| applaud his sense of justice,” sighed Gryme.t'Bsaid no good can come of pursuing the
matter, and it is time it was forgotten before amg/else dies.’

‘It will never be forgotten,” vowed Geoffrey. ‘Ndiy me. And not by the Church, either — the
bishops cannot afford to overlook two scholars ledngy a secular authority without a proper trial.’

‘True,” agreed Leycestria. ‘It is only a mattertohe before the King loses this contest of wills
with Rome, and then Oxford can expect some veryyhegprisals. Its relations with the University
will become more strained than ever, and | canetp but wonder whether it will ever be safe to
return. Perhaps we should stay here.’

‘You mean establish a University of Cambridge?’ sg@red Blund, startled.

‘Why not?’ asked Gryme softly. ‘England is undeterdict, and our King is excommunicated. It
might be years before Oxford is forced to apolofisevhat it has done, and | am more than happy
to make our situation here permanent. Indeed, ¢ ladneady raised the possibility with the Bishop’s
representative in Ely. The Archdeacon thinks @nsexcellent notion.’

Geoffrey looked sharply at him. Had that been negHer’s intention from the beginning? Since
resigning asMagister ScolarumGryme’s power in Oxford had waned, and he haah veey quick
to order arecessusHad he decided he wanted a University of his owithh scholars of his own

choosing? Was that why so many trouble-makers kead keft behind in Reading? And if that were
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the case, had Alice’s murder and the subsequerugzas been a useful coincidence, or part of a
carefully laid plan?

‘It is a fine idea!” exclaimed Malketon with a grigrief for his friend forgotten. ‘We shall have
to oust townsfolk from some of the better houses, lay claim to more parish churches, but there
should be no problem with that.’

Geoffrey scowled at them all. ‘We can discuss #msther time, when Derlega does not lie
murdered in front of us. What did he learn about&$ murder, Malketon? Did he tell you?’

‘No,’” sniffed Malketon resentfully. ‘But it must kia been something he saw as we all got up this
morning, because he confided in me shortly aftesta/ar

‘Then a search of everyone’s possessions shouldgethat he found,” said Geoffrey, thinking
he would start with Malketon, then move to Leydastand only inspect his brother’s if nothing
came of them. It would not take long, because Hasleft almost everything in Oxford.

‘No!" stated Gryme firmly, his voice the loudesttime immediate clamour of objections. ‘I forbid
it. It will set a dangerous precedent.’

‘And what precedent is that?’ demanded Geoffrepme@hat exposes killers?’

‘One that fosters an atmosphere of suspicion astdudit,’ snapped Gryme.

‘As opposed to one that sees us murdered for unicgvehe truth?’ asked Geoffrey, struggling
to keep his temper.

‘There is the bell for sext,” said Foxton, his cahmice cutting across the furious response his
Principal started to make. ‘So | suggest we alhnrefo the church, and pray for Derlega’s soul. |
doubt his killer granted him absolution beforelksing, so he will need our petitions.’

‘And so will his killer,” muttered Geoffrey blacklywhen | find him.’

There was a great deal to do after Derlega’s dé&atyme did not want his hostel befouled with the
taint of murder, so arrangements were made withv&se for a quick interment in St Mary’s
churchyard. Unfortunately, Mayor Dunning happened¢ passing, and came to make solicitous
enquiries. Gryme’s vague replies made him suspgagup, so more lies needed to be told in order
to alleviate his concerns. Geoffrey hoped his otivould remember all the tales he had told,
because he had spun a complex web, and it woudd$eto trip up with contradictions later.

Word soon spread that Derlega had fallen prey strange malady, and scholars from other
hostels came to offer their condolences. They dit discuss Derlega’s fate for long, however:
Gryme, Leycestria and Blund were eager to shaiie pens for a new university. The reactions of
the more influential visitors told Geoffrey it wast the first time the subject had been aired, and

that preparations were already further forward tktemstigators wanted most to know.
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During the afternoon, the Archdeacon appeared. adietken to visiting Cambridge often since
the scholars had arrived, partly to ensure there neatrouble between them and the town, but also
to make use of their expertise — there were alvdaggls to be witnessed in his line of work, and it
was convenient to have a supply of literate merhisndoorstep. Geoffrey wondered whether he
would be quite so eager to help establish a permatedium generalén Cambridge if he knew a
murderer was going to be among its founding memM@édrs question had no sooner formed in his
mind when the Archdeacon asked it.

‘There was no truth in those allegations,’ repl@d/me firmly. ‘Oxford hanged two innocent
scholars — one of them poor Adam — but the truthas atownsmarkilled Alice.’

He did not look at Geoffrey, but Geoffrey couldldBel himself being warned to stay silent. His
brother, he realised again, was possessed of emetyy powerful persona.

‘Quite,” added Malketon, speaking boldly for a jonischolar. ‘Mayor Kepeharm hates the
University, and the dead woman was his mistresswhte deranged by grief, but will be sorry he
accused us when he comes to his senses.’

‘Please, no more of this unsavoury subject,” deddteycestria. ‘Let us discuss how best to
proceed with our new University. | have a numbeidefs you may find interesting.’

The discussion became drearily detailed, and Gaofftipped away, confident in the knowledge
that it would keep his three surviving suspects Bhahd occupied for hours. Meanwhile Foxton
had gone to pray at Derlega’s grave, there wasnstisign of York, and Storteford was reading. It
was the perfect opportunity to search his colleagbelongings undetected, and see whether he
could find whatever it was that Derlega had discegle

He lit a candle, and crept up the stairs. He edt&erlega’s room, and knelt next to the little
chest that belonged to Malketon, swearing underbingath when he found it locked. Trust a
prospective Benedictine to look after his pers@udsessions, he thought irritably. Having never
picked a lock before, he was not sure where td. dti@ sat back on his heels, then spun around in
alarm when he heard a sound behind him.

‘I came to help,” explained Storteford softly. ikéd Derlega, and while Gryme and Leycestria
seem happy to see him shoved in the ground witlpuestions asked, | am not.’

‘Keep watch, then,” instructed Geoffrey. ‘I wouldtiher not be caught doing this — my brother
will expel me for certain, and then | will nevenesanswers.’

‘Hurry, then. And do not forget to look in Derlegddag.’

Geoffrey frowned. ‘What would be the point of th&t@ was not the killer!’

‘No,’ said Storteford, ‘but he found something thaid him who is. | doubt he left whatever it

was where he found it, lest the killer destroye&d, he will have hidden it somewhere safe.’
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‘Not in his bag, then,” determined Geoffrey. ‘Thabuld not be safe. In fact, | doubt anywhere in
Foule Hostel is — communal living does not lendlft& privacy.’

‘Perhaps he had some secret place. | certainly dade- not want my intimate letters from
Horningsea found and read by the rest of you.’

‘The chimney!” exclaimed Geoffrey suddenly. He saterteford’s bemusement, and hastened to
explain. ‘I saw soot on Derlega’s hands earliericlwlwas most unusual.’

He crouched by the hearth and began to poke armsidk it, dislodging clots of soot as he did
so. Eventually, he detected a loose stone. It vedseasy to remove, and clearly involved some
knack known only to Derlega, but he managed evdgidetting it fall with a clatter. Then it was
the work of but a moment to withdraw a piece ofcparent from the recess it had concealed.
Sensing his excitement, Storteford came to kneel teehim, holding the candle while Geoffrey
unfolded the parchment. Inside were a few stramdtsio, the colour a deep gold.

‘Alice Spicer’'s?’ asked Storteford in a whisperidhe killer take them as some kind of trophy?
How macabre!’

‘There is a reddish stain here,” said Geoffrey,irstijug in the unsteady light. ‘Either blood from
her wound, or from the killer's hands. Clever Dgdg

Storteford frowned. ‘What do you mean? Derlega thadast man in Foule Hostel who could be
described so — indeed, he was fortunate that Matkieelped him with his academic exercises, or he
would have been sent down in his first term.’

‘Well, he was clever in this instance. The killémast certainly claimed more than these few
hairs, and probably uses something to tie themthegetoo — a piece of ribbon, perhaps. Derlega
took a sample to show the Bishop, leaving the ladlkhe “trophy” with the killer, to incriminate
him later.’

‘Then | know the killer's identity, too! exclaimed Stofted, regarding him in horror. ‘I have
seen such an object with my own eyes! He keepsapped in red twine, and wears it around his
neck. When | asked about it, he said it belongddganother—’

‘Who?’ asked Geoffrey, his heart pounding. He ccuddr the meeting breaking up downstairs,
and the Archdeacon urging the participants to g Wwim to the church, to pray for the venture’s
success. There was a lot of laughing and bonhaomig;ating some sort of agreement had been
reached — and that the scholars were delighted.

‘I will tell you,” Storteford was saying. ‘But likeDerlega, | want the matter handled by the
Church, not by you. You must promise not to charife-’

Geoffrey was so intent on Storteford that he haddtien all about staying vigilant, and did not
see the shadow that had crept up behind them.e8iaitissued a strangled gasp as the knife

entered his back, and, falling, dropped the cargdilenging the room into almost complete darkness.
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Geoffrey staggered to his feet, but the killer wasting, and there was a searing pain in his side.
He tried to shout for help, but his cry coincideittwva gale of laughter from below. The last thirgy h

knew was Alice Spicer’s hairs being tugged fromhasd.
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1]
Cambridge, March 1209

Snow still lay on the ground, the wind seemed usioga and Geoffrey was not alone in wondering
whether the decision to found a permanent Uniwersit Cambridge was a wise one. The
newcomers complained unendingly about cold feelphlaeins and coughs, and when Foxton spotted
a crocus poking through the frigid earth, the satsobf Foule Hostel were sufficiently heartened to
hold an impromptu celebration.

Geoffrey had been quiet and withdrawn since thecktthat had cost Storteford his life, unable
to shake the conviction that it had been his fdhdthad known the killer was ruthless, and it was
inexcusable to have lowered his guard. Moreoverpiin wound had left him delirious for several
days, and by the time he had remembered the tagn® seemed little point in mentioning them to
anyone else. The killer would certainly have digabef them, and his inability to remember much
immediately after the assault meant his colleaguere likely to regard resurfacing memories with
scepticism.

He was not sure what manner of investigation hddvied the incident, but he knew it had done
little for University—town relations. His brotheratt blamed the townsfolk, the Archdeacon had
supported his contention, and the town had beexlfifihe patent unfairness made Geoffrey wonder
how long it would be before Mayor Dunning follow&epeharm’s example, and hanged a few
scholars to expredss feelings towards the new foundation.

‘You will be one of our first graduates if you conte in this vein,” said Gryme, beaming at him
at the end of a morning’s lectures. ‘I always kngw had it in you to be a scholar. And | cannot
recall the last time you enjoined a drunken braher. That attack must have knocked some sense
into you. Perhaps | should have done it years ago!

‘Is that a confession?’ asked Geoffrey coolly.

Gryme rolled his eyes. ‘Do you really see me asaa mho stabs people?’

Geoffrey did not reply. He had done his best talteghat had happened that night, straining at
elusive memories for a glimpse of a robe or a kbat would identify the culprit. But the whole
event was a blur, and even if something did ocouhitn, he knew it might be the product of
wishful thinking. He had watched Leycestria, Matketind his brother carefully, but to no avail. He
was as far from unveiling the culprit in March ashad been the day Adam was hanged.

York had returned to the fold while Geoffrey wasl stonfined to bed, and had immediately
resumed his state of animosity with Leycestria. réhe@as something oddly comforting in their
familiar bickering, although Geoffrey put as muelith in Leycestria’s claim that York had stabbed

him, as he had in York’s whispered assuranced #hatestria was responsible.
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York had arrived in Cambridge with lofty ambitioras)d had decided he would be Bishop of Ely
when the current incumbent vacated the post. Hegbad there the previous week, taking with him
several barrels of wine to start buying the moriksour. Leycestria moped with no one to fight,
and was testy and uncommunicative.

Foxton and Blund were also in Ely, the former hgviaken holy orders in the Benedictine
Abbey, and the latter having secured himself aadlive position as the Archdeacon’s Clerk.
Meanwhile, Dr Gryme spent every waking moment wagkio ensure the University was at
Cambridge to stay, and Malketon was his obedienas¢, seeking to haul himself up the greasy
pole of success by hanging to the hem of a moeeraah.

Geoffrey was sorry that the once-proud Stone Halfsting at the seams with eleven active
members, should be reduced to himself, his brotheycestria and Malketon, all rattling around
Foule Hostel like peas in a coffin. And Gryme’s senabout Geoffrey’'s recent good conduct had
nothing to do with a willingness to conform, bugetfact he no longer had anyone with whom to
misbehave — Adam, Chestertone, Derlega and Staidtdfad been lively companions, and he
missed them.

He left Foule Hostel when the Archdeacon arrivethwiore University business, and went for a
walk. He could smell soggy earth from a recent dwoum, the dank stench of the Fens, and the
sewage and rubbish that festered in piles alongsithes of the road. But there was something
sweeter, too — the white blossom that was begintwngpfurl in the hedgerows and the scent of new
growth from the fields across the river.

As he passed St Mary’s churchyard, he realisechd heen some time since he had visited
Derlega and Storteford. He knelt in the long grass, was just muttering pithy oaths at a dandelion
that stubbornly resisted his efforts to removehew Gervaise came to stand next to him.

‘Make sure you get the root, or it will be back heseek, the vicar advised. ‘And speaking of
unwanted weeds, have you heard that John de H@eangeturned today? He has been in Reading
for the last couple of months, poaching the besblses from Master de Lacy, so we will be a better
rival to Oxford when theecessugnds.’

‘Horningsea?’ Geoffrey knew the name, but couldplate it.

‘The Principal of New Corner Hall,” explained Geilsaimpatiently. ‘He was ordered away from
Cambridge the morning before Derlega and Stortetbedl, which was odd, because | aore
Horningsea was Storteford’s lover. Do you remenmbertelling you so, back in January?’

Geoffrey winced when a vision of him shoving Sttotd against a wall came to mind, and his
bullying tactics in forcing his friend to revealetidentity of the man who would give him an alibi

for Alice’s murder. He had tried to check it, heaked, but Horningsea had been out, and there had
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been no point once Storteford was dead. Not thaold have questioned Horningsea anyway, of
course, if the man had been sent off on officiaibess.

‘He was ordered away to poach studentsleningbefore Storteford died?’ he asked, puzzled.

Gervaise nodded. ‘So | took it upon myself to infdnim of his lover’s fate, by letter, although
he did not have the grace to acknowledge my coraide.’

‘But the decision to found a permanent Universitgswnot taken until the evening,’ said
Geoffrey. ‘When the Archdeacon came. Along with Meestre and Driffeld from St Edmund’s
Hall. How could anyone have known to send him sd&ne

Gervaise shrugged. ‘If you want my opinion, theisien was taken before you even left Oxford.
| have nothing to prove it, of course. Just inanti

Bemused, Geoffrey left the churchyard, and begamalé towards Horningsea’s home, thinking
it might be a kindness to tell him that Stortefdvald died quickly and without pain. No one else
would know to do it. He was conducted through a that smelled of boiled onions, and out into a
scrubby garden, where the man himself was sittengsjyely on the edge of a well. He smiled wanly
as Geoffrey approached, and indicated he was thperxt to him.

‘Storteford’s friend,” he said softly. ‘Gervaise ote to tell me he was dead, yet my thoughts have
been full of him since | arrived back today. Gesessaid he was murdered by drunken townsmen. If
| had not agreed to leave that day, we would haenlbogether — and he would not be dead now.’

‘I came to see you that morning,” said Geoffreywaited between prime and terce for you to
return, but you never did.’

‘I was receiving orders from your brother,” said rHimgsea ruefully. ‘But he had finished by
terce, so you only missed me by moments. | washerrdad to Reading before noon, though — Dr
Gryme would countenance no delays. Why did you ctiraeday?’

‘It does not matter now,’ replied Geoffrey. ‘Whatlers did my brother give you?’

‘To inveigle myself into the community of scholaat Reading, and encourage certain ones to
abandon de Lacy and come here instead. And wihntuld@ say to de Lacy, should he ever discover
what | was doing and demand an explanation. It tm@kfour months, but | believe | have done
well. We shall have a University to be proud of.’

‘Is it ethical, do you think?’ asked Geoffrey untagnly. ‘The recessuwill end eventually, and
many scholars will return to Oxford. But it will hbe the same place if the best minds are here.’

‘I hopeit is not the same,’ said Horningsea with a wiyngiWe will be competitors — and as the
younger foundation, we shall need all the advarstagecan muster.’

‘My brother is determined the University here vgillcceed.’

‘Oh, yes!” agreed Horningsea. ‘He will stop at nothto ensure it does. In fact, Storteford wrote

me a letter the day I left, and gave it to somgrpiis to deliver. It arrived weeks after his death,

26



course, but it was of comfort to me. He told me fiad discovered our secret, but that you were no
JohnGryme, to cast judgement and see us banished.’

‘John would not—'

‘He will permit nothingto taint his new school,’ interrupted Hornings&nd you would be
wise to remember it. Storteford also said you magk whether he was with me the night Alice was
killed, and I can tell you that he was. Severaiyfcolleagues at Corner Hall will confirm it, too —
they tended to watch our comings and goings facsalls amusement.’

‘| believed him anyway.” Geoffrey shrugged. ‘I ordgme to be thorough.’

‘As your brother taught you, | suppose. Stortefandte that he would help you find Alice’s
murderer, but he also said he had a feeling yolnntug stopped.’

Geoffrey stared at him, not sure what he was sayftrg you suggesting John—’

Horningsea'’s eyebrows shot into his hair. ‘Goodd,aro! However, | doubt he was overly sorry

when those robbers broke into Foule Hostel andgmted the two of you from meddling.’

Geoffrey took his leave, his thoughts a dark, fieging turmoil. Had his brother dispatched
Derlega and Storteford, to ensure neither shoukdsta the reputation of the growing community of
scholars in the Fens? He had been very quick taradghe Archdeacon that no scholar had
murdered Alice, when he knew for a fact that thiprciwas a member of his own foundation.

Geoffrey had no recollection of what had happerféet &e had been stabbed, but his brother
claimed to have been the first on the scene. Maitkbad later revealed that Gryme’s clothes had
been drenched in blood from his efforts to savertSiard, but the killer's would have been
drenched, too. Foxton had added that there had $emuch confusion and panic that it had been
difficult to know who had done what and when. Bugyt both agreed that it had been Gryme’s idea
to blame the attack on the town.

Geoffrey leaned against a wall, feeling sick. Hiotber must have dispatched Alice to
precipitate a crisis that would allow him to orderecessusand had even sacrificed Adam to
ensure his plans came to fruition. He had almogtfssed Geoffrey, too, because it had only been
by luck that he had survived the attack. Perhaps dblirium that had followed, and his
disinclination to resume his investigation afterdgrhad saved him from further violence.

He began to run, a vision of Adam’s face filling Imnind. His brother had suffered a terrible fate
because John Gryme had wanted to found a Univdusityal Oxford! As he tore along, Geoffrey
vowed that John would pay. He reached Foule Hastdlburst in. Gryme was lying on the floor,
groaning. Geoffrey skidded to a standstill in canbn.

‘Geoffrey,” gasped Gryme. ‘Thank God! | should h&igeened to you, because...’
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He moved his hand to reveal a patch of bright higgdoffrey darted to his side, pulling the
material away to inspect the wound underneath.

‘The killer” Gryme’s voice was weak and frighteneblfound a lock of hair in a ribbon. It was
Alice’s hair — | would know it anywhere, God resrisoul.’

‘Would you? You claimed you only lay with her orice.

Gryme ignored him. ‘He must wear it round his ndite a lover’s token. Or perhaps to remind
him of the terrible thing he did. But the stringpke, and | found it on the floor...It was not there
earlier, and you have been out, so it can onlyrigeto one of two others.’

‘Malketon?’ asked Geoffrey, not sure whether taebad him. ‘Or Leycestria?’

‘Malketon! | was turning it over in my hands, ponidg its significance, and suddenly there was
a searing pain in my back. He snatched the ribbam fme, and was gone, leaving me to bleed to
death. Thank God you found me! No! Do not go! He/imame back!

‘| should fetch a surgeon—'

‘There was murder in his heart as he surged towamlswhispered Gryme, gripping Geoffrey’s
hand hard. ‘All grey cloak and flashing blade.’

‘Are you sure it was Malketon?’ asked Geoffrey. cBase Leycestria has a grey cloak, too.’

‘Of course | am sure! You were right all along — sieould never have ignored the threat he
posed. Now he will add me to his list of victimadadestroy my University into the bargain. It will
never survive without me to guide it through it&imcy.’

‘You are not dying,” said Geoffrey, taking a cledath from the drying rack over the hearth and
using it to bandage his brother’s shoulder. ‘| amest is painful, and a surgeon will be needed to
stitch it, but you will live to father your damnedhool.’

Gryme gazed at him in disbelief. ‘But there is wbBots of it!’

‘Yes. And all from your right shoulder blade — atangle that makes self infliction unlikely.’

Gryme’s jaw dropped. “You think I did this myself?’

‘Not now. Moreover, the amount of blood on the flaadicates you have not moved since the
assault, but the lock of hair is gone. You did kibtAlice, either.’

‘Of course | did not kill Alice! snapped Gryme.ttbld you so at the time.’

Geoffrey helped him sit on a bench, and fetched Wwettered wine. It was not long before the
colour began to seep back into the Principal’s kbeGeoffrey sat next to him.

‘| thought she might have been murdered to engiaeecessus he said quietly.

Gryme grimaced. ‘You have a nasty mind, GeoffreyleBessusvas a foregone conclusion the
moment the Pope placed the country under inteatidtexcommunicated King John. It was obvious
John would challenge the Church by attacking isics, and life in Oxford was growing untenable

long before Alice died. She meant we went a lgt@elier, but that is all.’
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‘But you threatened me with expulsion if | contidue look into her death.’

‘Of course | did! Your reckless questions were gajryou enemies, and | wanted to protect you.
But | have not forgotten her — or Derlega and $fortl. | have been exploring their murders,
discreetly, ever since. You gave up after you veeabbed, but have not stopped asking questions
and gathering evidence.’

‘I have not seen you,’ said Geoffrey suspiciously.

‘Obviously not,” replied Gryme, smiling for the $irtime. ‘Because then it would not have been
discreet, would it? | had narrowed my list to fisespects — unlike you, | declined to dismiss the
possibility that someone wore our badge in a dedifeeattempt to mislead. But after the murderous
attack on me it is reduced to one.’

‘Malketon?’

‘Malketon.’

Neither Geoffrey nor Gryme could begin to guess rehdalketon might have gone, and Gryme
was in no condition to engage in chases. He inkistat Geoffrey stay with him until the surgeon
had finished, although Geoffrey suspected it wakgto keep him from tracking Malketon alone.

‘He will not have gone far,’ said Gryme, as theldt faded, and a damp, drizzling dusk set in.
The wind was picking up, too, whistling down thanchey, and making the fire gutter and flare.
‘He is not such a fool as to leave the town aldree roads are too dangerous, and he knows it.’

‘He knows he might hang for murder, too,” said Gexf. ‘And even if the Church intervenes,
and he finds himself exiled to some pleasantly terpoory, he will still have to answer to me.’

‘And to me.’

‘How did you know about the hair?’ asked Geoffr&torteford and | discovered it, but the only
other person who can know is the killer himself.’

‘And the man who sat with you during your deliriureaid Gryme. ‘It was difficult to make
sense of your fevered ramblings, but | managedtea#n. | learned that Derlega had found the
talisman, and had removed a few strands. And tigakitler took them, believing you were dead.’

‘Would you have stopped Derlega writing his letter?

‘Of course,’ replied Gryme, unabashed. ‘But by cgmsg with him, not by killing him. The
Bishop does not need to know our unsavoury secrets.

‘Because he would decline to support your new Unsitag?’

‘He will not let a few murders interfere with thdle stands to benefit greatly fromstudium
generalein his diocese — it will provide an endless strezinfearned men to witness his charters,
and he can pick and choose who he will hire to héip run his see. He has already secured Blund

and Foxton — both excellent catches.’
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‘Then why?’

Gryme shrugged. ‘Because itasir business. We will deal with these matters ourselit |
was right to break away from Oxford. It is growifi@g and complacent, and a little healthy
competition will do us all good. Besides, other mimies have more than one University, so why
should we not?’

Suddenly, the door opened. Geoffrey came to hisfést when Malketon entered, Leycestria at
his heels.

‘God and all his saints preserve us!’ exclaimedKdtdn, the colour draining from his face as he
stared at the floor where Gryme had been lyingh#blood?’

And without another word, he fainted.

‘I have always had weakness over blood,” said Malkeafter Geoffrey had splashed water on his
face and settled him on a bench, a cloth hidingotfending stain on the floor. ‘The very sight of i
makes me...’

‘Do not think about it,” advised Geoffrey, seeingitbegin to reel again.

‘You did not swoon when you drove a blade into noglyy’ said Gryme accusingly. ‘You were
perfectly strong then.’

Malketon shook his head weakly. ‘How many more snmeust | say it? | have not stabbed
anyone. | would be incapable!

‘You are not!" declared Leycestria. ‘Gryme saw yamd he is not a man given to flights of
fancy. You killed Alice — we all knew you were lgmwhen you claimed you had never visited her —
and you have no alibi. Moreover, you murdered Rexlend Storteford, too.’

‘Do not deny it,” said Gryme, when Malketon opergsl mouth. “You are caught. And there are
three of us now, so do not think you can defeatllu8esides, Geoffrey knows how to brawl.’

‘No!” cried Malketon. ‘I could never—’

‘You must have steeled yourself to the sound oflitagle as it penetrated vital organs,” said
Geoffrey, watching him closely. ‘And the splattéhot blood that followed was—'

He jumped forward and caught Malketon just befoeedcholar’s head struck the floor.

‘He is pretending,” said Leycestria in disgust. ‘@¥ishall we do with him? Or will you and | go
upstairs, Gryme, and let your brother mete ouitle Nengeance with his fists?’

‘No,’ said Geoffrey, as Leycestria started to h@aayme to his feet. ‘He is telling the truth. Look
at the pallor of his face — it would be impossitdeengineer that.’

‘And he would have done himself a serious injurg ly@u not caught him the second time,’
added Gryme. ‘Had he been acting, he would hawnged to land more gently. He is not lying — it

was not Malketon who stabbed me.’
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Leycestria grimaced. ‘But yosaidyou saw him.’

‘I saw his grey cloak,” said Gryme softly. ‘But ydwave one of those, too. The villain is not
Malketon, it is you.’

‘Me?’ Leycestria glanced at Geoffrey. ‘Has shockrikeed him of his wits?’

‘He is quite rational,” replied Geoffrey. ‘I shoulthve guessed Malketon owned an aversion to
blood when he declined to step into the room wisdega was murdered. Everyone else stared at
the corpse, but he did not even try.’

‘Probably because he could not bear to look avietsm,’ stated Leycestria. ‘And—

‘No,” said Geoffrey sharply.Youare the Kkiller. You lied about not knowing Alic&hen you
enjoyed regular assignations with her—’

‘We all did,” snarled Leycestria. ‘Even your dearight brother. It means nothing!

‘And you lied about your alibi,” Geoffrey went ofY.ou said you were dining with the Principal
of Corner Hall, but we were never able to confitibecause he fled Oxford so quickly. But the
Principal of Corner Hall is John de Horningsea, bkidow for a fact that he was with Storteford the
night Alice was stabbed — not you — because hen@do today.’

‘You enjoyed the luck of the damned, LeycestriajdsGryme, ‘because | sent Horningsea away
in the nick of time — just as Geoffrey was abougtestion him about Storteford’s alibi. Had they
spoken, you would have been exposed as a liar a amarderer — in January.’

‘You followed me when | went to speak to him,” rbed Geoffrey. ‘Il assumed John had told you
to do it, to see whether | would defy his ordergt ¥u were acting of your own volition.’

‘Shortly afterwards, you were obliged to kill Degebecause he found the bloodied lock of hair
and was planning to send a few strands to the Biskaid Gryme. ‘And you murdered Storteford
because he had seen you wearing it, and was abtait Geoffrey so.’

‘What hair?’ demanded Leycestria. ‘| know nothirfgaay hair.’

‘When we discussed Alice’s murder back in Oxforayygaid you did not see why we should all
suffer because of a man who could not control émsper,” said Geoffrey, ignoring the question.
‘And that is exactly what happened: Alice taunted,yand you reacted with rage. But how could
you have fled from the scene knowing you would @lgaur colleagues in danger?’

‘I knew nothing of the kind!" snarled LeycestriaeHlushed when he realised what he had said,
and tugged at the clothes around his throat, be they were suddenly too tight. ‘What | mean is
that this is all conjecture and lies. You haveenmence

‘Thereis the evidence,” said Gryme, pointing. ‘Arounduymeck is the ribbon holding the lock
of Alice’s hair. | can see it from here — and | {and well enough, because | was holding it when

you stabbed me.’
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‘It is nothing of the kind,” blustered Leycestriti.is a ring from my father. And | would show it
to you, but you insult me with these preposteragsisations.’

‘And you insult us with your lies,” snapped Grym&eize him, Geoffrey. You have my
permission to use violence, if necessary. God knbe$as unleashed enough of it on us.’

Suddenly, there was a knife in Leycestria’s hand.

‘Touch me and you die,” he hissed. ‘I have had ghoaf this nonsense. | am going to the
Archdeacon to report that you have both lost yoiis,vand should be removed from office before
you do any harm. You will not—’

Geoffrey took several steps towards the man redplentor so many deaths, but Leycestria
lashed out at him with his dagger, forcing him edkjaway. Leycestria began to edge towards the
door, and without a weapon of his own, Geoffreykre could not stop him. But he had reckoned
without Malketon, who had been listening from hisme position on the floor. Malketon grabbed
Leycestria’s ankle, and when Leycestria stumbletas enough to allow Geoffrey to power into
him and knock him from his feet. The knife flewrnd_eycestria’s hand, and he landed so heavily
that the breath was driven out of him. Even sa;dwered when Geoffrey raised his fist.

‘Kill him! shouted Malketon furiously. ‘He was gog to letmetake the blame for his crimes,
and | might have hanged, like Adam! Kill him, Geeif! Dr Gryme will arrange for his body to be
buried with no questions asked.’

‘| cannot stop you, Geoffrey,” said Gryme softligut whatever you decide, remember that you

will have to live with it for the rest of your lifé hink on that first.’
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Epilogue
Cambridge, 4 June 1225

It was a glorious day, with fluffy white clouds qding a serene blue sky. The fields were deep
green with the promise of a plentiful harvest, antickoo called in the distance. St Mary’s Church
gleamed honey-yellow in the morning sun, and the haounds where Derlega and Storteford had
long before been laid to rest were invisible uraleright carpet of summer flowers.

The road outside the church was full of schola@nynn ceremonial robes of red, trimmed with
fur, and others in more sober religious habits.réhweas a buzz of excitement, because it was the
day the University was going to install its firsh&hcellor.

‘It should have been you,’ said Geoffrey to histbes. ‘You are the one who has worked so hard
to turn this dream into a reality.’

John Gryme had not fared well since the flight fr@xford. His hair was white, his health was
poor, and his eyesight was failing. By contrastofBey looked much the same, with the exception
of a dusting of grey around his temples. He hagrsed himself by electing to stay in Cambridge,
and was now Principal of his own hostel — a finedenear St Bene't's Church, which attracted
students who were rich and intelligent, but givemidtous behaviour.

‘It is a post for a more vigorous man,’ replied @®. ‘One with the ambition and strength to
take us to new heights of prestige and recogni#or | am tired now.’

‘Personally, | do not see what all the fuss is apsaid Foxton, who was standing with them, his
Benedictine robes clean but threadbare. His gesgkermand compassion had strengthened further
still through the years, and he was one of his @8daost beloved members. ‘What was wrong
with aMagister Scolarunmunning the place?’

‘A Magister Scolarums the master of a haphazard collection of schoebgplained Gryme
patiently. ‘Whereas a Chancellor is the head ofnavéfsity. It means we are now a distinct and
independent canonical authority within the diocese.

‘Besides, Oxford has one,” added Geoffrey wrylyn@Awe cannot afford to lag behind them.’

‘They would love to see us suppressed, and albest scholars absorbed into their own halls,’
said Gryme. ‘But that will not happen now we havetancellor.’

‘It is a pity we owe our origins to bloody murdérpugh,’” said Geoffrey.

His thoughts had been full of Adam that day, lomge taken from the ditch in Oxford, and laid
to rest in hallowed ground. The town had suffe@dkiepeharm’s actions once the King and Pope
had resolved their differences: scholars now redelh cheap rents and victuals, and the town was
obliged in perpetuity to subsidise poorer studemis provide them with a handsome feast on the

anniversary of the hangings.
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‘Not so,” argued Gryme. ‘As | have told you cdest times, it was not just Alice Spicer’s
murder that led to theecessusat Oxford — an excuse would have been found tat ft@non law
regardless, so the King could show the Church was w charge.’

‘I might have sympathised with him, had Kepeharmdwal Leycestria,” said Geoffrey bitterly.
‘It is unfair that men who can read should be treatecerenmiently than those who cannot. But
Kepeharm executed two men he knew were innocent.’

‘I heard Kepeharm died when he learned how muchofdxfvas going to have to pay the
University to make amends,’ said Foxton. ‘From $hoc

‘Had a secular killed Alice, he would have beendey Geoffrey went on. ‘But Leycestria
murdered a woman in a fit of pique, stood by wiiklam and Chestertone were executed for his
crime, and then dispatched Derlega and Stortefoaitder to save himself.’

‘And attacked both of us,” added Gryme. ‘My hedlds never been the same since his assault.’

‘Yet his only punishment was a few years of exilgéhie Fens,’” said Geoffrey. ‘Perhapshbuld
have battered out his brains, and let Gervaise lianysecretly.’

‘He spent years in prayer and reflection,” said tbax always willing to look for the good in
people. ‘And now he is back — a contrite and chrestaman, who is willing to spend the rest of his
life making amends by serving the community of ¢atseohe once so harmed.’

‘He is not contrite or chastened,” argued Geofftele is as arrogant and uncompromising as he
ever was. As far as | am concerned, what is hapgdntday is a travesty of justice and fairness.’

‘Perhaps,’ said Gryme with a smile. ‘But, as | saie need a man with ambition and strength to
carry our University forward, and Leycestria hathbia abundance. Personally, | think he will make

a splendid first Chancellor.’
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Historical Note

Through the years, there have been many theori¢s aby a University developed in the Fens.
Some have been fanciful, such as that it originatigl Alfred the Great or a charter by King Arthur
dating to 531, and were probably invented to ma&mk¥idge older, and therefore more venerable,
than The Other Place. But A.B. Emden, M.B. HackBt\W. Southern, Hastings Rashdall and
Christopher Brooke have suggested more plausiiaeations, and we have used their work to
write this fictional account.

Emden noted that Eustace, the Bishop of Ely (11275}, used many more masters to witness
his various deeds and charters than had his prestase William Longchamp (1189-97) rarely
used more than two — whose academic credential©o@ea to question anyway — but Eustace
regularly employed four or five, and sometimes asynas nine. The inference, therefore, is that
Eustace had a convenient repository of learnedtmenaw upon — a fledgling University at nearby
Cambridge.

England was not a peaceful country in the earlysyeé the thirteenth century. King John was
engaged in a dispute with Pope Innocent Ill that §@en his realm put under an interdict, and he
himself was excommunicated in December 1209. llkéy that in the same month, the scholars at
the University at Oxford decided to stage a walk-@bandoning their schools and teaching, and
setting up shop elsewhere. The contemporary Engligbnicler Roger of Wendover (iRlores
Historiarum) claims that this was because two (or possiblgdhrscholars had been hanged,
although Roger didn’t always get his facts right.

According to him, the scholars had been executeduse they had happened to lodge with
another member of the University who had murderedioanan. The culprit had fled, so his
housemates were seized in his place. Normally, whigld not have been a problem. As clerics,
scholars had special privileges in law, and th@duded not being executed by secular authorities.
However, as the country was under an interdiavas difficult for the Church to press its rights,
and within a few days, the hapless men were deadords show that the ‘mayor’ of Oxford from
1205 to 1209 was Laurence Kepeharm, while the 8pigere an important and influential family.

Shocked by what had happened, the scholars caleceasudbefore any more of them could be
dispatched. Records do not tell us who Weister Scolarumn 1209, but John Gryme held the
office in 1201, and Geoffrey de Lacy by 1216. Savhthe scholars went all the way to Paris; some
only went so far as Reading, perhaps because itdwbue too far to return once the trouble had
died down; others chose Cambridge.

Why Cambridge was chosen will probably always renaamystery. It was a long way away, it

had no tradition of scholarship, and it was at ¢dge of the Fens — an unhealthy, inhospitable
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region of bog and marsh. Yet the names of soméefritnesses in Bishop Eustace’s charters —
John de Foxton, John de Stortford and John de Hgsea — give us a clue: these scholars may have
hailed from the Cambridge area anyway. It seems tthen Gryme (or Grim) family was well-
respected in Cambridgeshire, and Geoffrey and Gfme are listed as witnesses (1198-1215) for
Eustace’s business. Hackett went so far as to stgfigt John Gryme was one of the driving forces
for leading the scholars to Cambridge, rather éikbirteenth-century Moses.

In other words, some of these migrating scholass yeent home. And that would have had its
advantages: local connections would get them ddoelgings, the right to use the churches for
teaching and prayers, and perhaps even cheapdleread, too. The journey must have been made
in the midst of winter — one of the conditions tbe scholars’ later return to Oxford was that the
town paid for a feast every 6 December, which hasnbsuggested as the anniversary of the
executions — so it would not have been easy. Thelacs therefore must have been fairly confident
in their undertaking.

One can only imagine what they found when thewadi The town was an agricultural centre
with a castle, good water communications to thesta@nd a fine legacy of Roman roads leading
north, south, east and west. The number of chuyginebably at least a dozen, indicates a degree of
prosperity, and they must have known suitable mgfsl would be immediately available for them
to rent. The largest church would have been Gredtay’s (not so called until St Peter's became
St Mary the Less in the fourteenth century; it rhaye been designated St Mary-by-the-Market in
the early 1200s). A deed of 1205 indicates that@eevaise was installed there as vicar for life.

Unfortunately, there is no record of the namesefuery earliest foundations, but Oxford tended
to use the term ‘hall’, while Cambridge preferrédstel’. The names were various, and included
the names of saints, who owned the building, amsh evhat they were made afe(, Tyled Hostel).

Of the men who made the precarious journey, we ki@soffrey Gryme later held two
Cambridgeshire rectories: Somersham in 1221, afirSat some point between 1215 and 1225.
John Gryme, who was a Doctor of Theology by 120ignvhe was Oxford’Magister Scolarumis
credited with writingSumma super canonem misda this is uncertain.

Other names in Bishop Eustace’s Episcopal regiatdude Nicholas de Derlega; Stephen de
Mauncestre (who was a canon in Salisbury in 1236pmas Driffeld; John de Malketon; John
Blund (who later became Eustace’s clerk); and RotberyYork (who was elected Bishop of Ely in
1215 after Eustace’s death, only to find himseléampetition for the post with another contender).
John de Foxton witnessed charters pertaining tol@idge between 1220 and 1225, but died in
London, where miracles were attributed to his tomb.

By 1214, the crisis was over, and many scholarsldvbave drifted back to Oxford. But some

remained, and a deed dating to 4 June 1225 mendiamancellor, suggesting the University was
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now reasonably well established. The first chancsllname is not known, but Hackett proposed
one Richard de Leycestria (or Wethersette) forhtweour. Leycestria wrote a popular manual for
parish priests and confessors — wemma Qui bene presunt presbiteri’, and may have heldeff
until as late as 1246.

Perhaps one day a store of documents will be deseovthat will answer many such questions,
or historians will develop new ways to interpre¢ thid ones. Until then, however, the misty image
will continue to exist of a small group of men tkelg eastwards through the winter of 1209, and
taking up residence in an undistinguished littl#lsment on the edge of the marshes. Would they
be surprised to know it has survived 800 years,@slemerged as the finest academic foundation

in the world? Perhaps not.

Sources

Binns, J., and P. Meadows (editors). 20B€eat St Mary’s: Cambridge’s University ChurdBreat
St Mary’s the University Church.

Brooke, C.N.L. 1985. The churches of medieval Cadger. In: Beales, D., and G. Best (editors).
History, society and the churches: essays in homdu®wen ChadwickCambridge University
Press: 49-76.

Cobban, A. 199%nglish university life in the Middle AgddCL Press.

Emden, A.B. 1963A biographical register of the University of Candge to 1500 Cambridge
University Press.

Hackett, M.B. 1970.The original statutes of Cambridge University: ttext and its history
Cambridge University Press.

Hackett, M.B. 1984. The university as a corporaidyb In: Catto, J.L. (editor)The history of the
University of Oxford. Vol 1: The early Oxford sckeo@®xford University Press: 37—-96.

Leader, D.R. 1988A history of the University of Cambridge. Vol 1:eThiniversity to 1546
Cambridge University Press.

Rashdall, H. 1977The universities of Europe in the Middle Ages. ¥@B: English universities —
student life Oxford University Press.

Southern, R.W. 1984. From schools to university. @atto, J.L. (editor).The history of the
University of Oxford. Vol 1: The early Oxford scko®xford University Press: 1-36.

Stokes, H.P. 1924lhe mediaeval hostels of the University of Camlaritigyether with chapters on
Glomery Hall and the Master of Glomei@ambridge Antiquarian Society.

Taylor, A. 1999 Cambridge: the hidden histarfempus Publishing.

37



